IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

ROBERT KI RSCH, : ClVIL ACTI ON
Plaintiff, :

V.
ALFREDO GARCI A,
MUMPSAUDI OFAX, | NC. ,
and MUMPSAUDI OFAX, | NC.
PRCOFI T SHARI NG PLAN, :

Def endant s. : NO. 96-8230
Newconer, J. August , 1997

MEMORANDUM

Presently before the Court is Defendants' Motion for
Partial Sunmary Judgnent, plaintiff's response thereto, and
defendants' reply thereto. For the reasons that follow said
Motion will be granted in part and denied in part, and judgnent
will be entered in favor of defendants and against plaintiff on
Counts Il and V of plaintiff's First Amended Conpl ai nt.
A Backgr ound

Prior to April, 1991, plaintiff Robert Kirsch was the
sol e sharehol der,* director, and president of START Software,
Inc., and defendant Al fredo Garcia was the sol e sharehol der,
director, and officer of Advanced MUWPS Systens, Inc. (First Am
Conpl. 19 8-9.) On nunerous occasions, M. Kirsch and M.
Garcia, in their own right or on behalf of their corporations,
perfornmed joint venture services, involving the creation of
conputer software prograns (the "software"), for SmthKline

Beecham Inc. (First Am Conpl. § 10.) M. Kirsch and M.

M. Kirsch's spouse might have been a sharehol der as well.
(First Am Conpl. ¢ 8.)



Garcia jointly held exclusive proprietary rights in the software.
(First Am Conpl. 1 10.)

In April, 1991, M. Kirsch's corporation and M.
Garcia's corporation forned a general partnership under the nane
of MUMPSAudi oFax, Inc. (the "MAFI Partnership”"). (First Am
Conpl. 9 11.) Both M. Kirsch and M. Garcia were enpl oyees of
the MAFI Partnership. (First Am Conpl. § 11.) Upon its
creation, M. Kirsch and M. Garcia assigned to it their
exclusive proprietary rights in the software. (First Am Conpl.
1 12.)

In April, 1994, substantially all of the assets of the
MAFI Partnership were transferred to a new y-i ncorporated conpany
bearing the sane nane as the MAFI Partnership, nanely,
MUVPSAudi oFax, Inc. (the "MAFI Corporation"). (First Am Conpl.
1 13.) At that time, the two corporations previously formng the
MAFI Partnership ceased actively doing business. (First Am
Conpl. 9 13.) M. Kirsch and M. Garcia were equal sharehol ders
of the MAFI Corporation. (First Am Conpl. § 14.)

In the spring of 1995, there was established for the
MAFI Corporation's enployees a Sinplified Enpl oyee Pensi on Pl an
("SEP"). (Dep. of Alfredo Garcia at 50-52, Ex. B to Appendix to
Pl.'s Mm of Lawin Qop. to Defs.' Mt. for Partial Sunm J.
("Garcia Dep.").) The SEP was repl aced, however, in Decenber,
1995, by defendant MUMPSAudi oFax, Inc. Profit Sharing Plan (the
"Plan"). (Garcia Dep. at 50-51.) Unlike the SEP, the Pl an

contai ned a vesting schedul e under which an enpl oyee's interest

2



in the Plan would not vest until sone period of service had
el apsed. (Garcia Dep. at 53.)

Thr oughout 1995 and early-1996, M. Kirsch and M.
Garcia had nmaj or disagreenents about the manner in which the MAFI
Cor poration should be run. (First Am Conpl. § 16.) The
mal cont ent edness between the two gentlenmen cul mnated in April,
1996, when M. Garcia changed the |locks to the MAFI Corporation's
of fices, thereby preventing M. Kirsch's entry thereto, and the
MAFI Cor poration ceased paying M. Kirsch's salary. (First Am
Conpl . 99 38-41.) M. Kirsch ultimately, in June, 1996, sold al
his stock in the MAFI Corporation, thereby termnating his
relationship with it.

M. Kirsch thereafter filed the instant action, in
whi ch he, first, seeks paynent of benefits under the Plan. M.
Kirsch all eges that, under the Plan's vesting schedul e, an
enpl oyee receives credit for vesting purposes for years of

service with the MAFI Partnership, in addition to the MAFI

Corporation, the result of which, M. Kirsch contends, is that he

is entitled to benefits. Defendants, on the other hand, assert

t hat an enpl oyee receives credit only for his years of service
with the MAFI Corporation, the result of which, defendants
contend, is that M. Kirsch is not entitled to any benefits. M.
Kirsch next seeks, in this action, reformation of the Plan to
clarify that, under the Plan's vesting schedul e, an enpl oyee
receives credit for his years of service with the MAF

Partnership, in addition to the MAFI Corporation. M. Kirsch,
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finally, seeks paynent of his salary for the nonths of April,
May, and June, 1996.

M. Kirsch asserts six causes of action in his First
Amended Conpl aint, against M. Garcia, the MAFI Corporation, and
the Plan. Counts I, 11, and VI allege violations of the Enpl oyee
Retirement |Incone Security Act ("ERISA"), 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1001 et
seqg., with respect to the Plan. Count Ill asserts breach of
contract with respect to the paynent of M. Kirsch's salary, and
Count IV alleges a violation of Pennsylvania's Wage Paynent and
Col l ection Law, 43 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. 8§ 260.1 et seq., in
connection also with the paynent of M. Kirsch's salary.
Finally, Count V states a claimfor fraud arising out of

statenments allegedly nmade by M. Garcia to M. Kirsch regarding

t he Pl an.

Def endants now nove for partial summary judgnent
against M. Kirsch on Counts Il, V, and VI.
B. Summary Judgnent Standard

A review ng court may enter summary judgnent where
there are no genuine issues as to any material fact and one party
is entitled to judgnent as a matter of law. \Wite v.

West i nghouse Elec. Co., 862 F.2d 56, 59 (3d Cr. 1988). The

evi dence presented nust be viewed in the |light nost favorable to
t he non-noving party. [d. "The inquiry is whether the evidence
presents a sufficient disagreenent to require subm ssion to the
jury or whether it is so one sided that one party nust, as a

matter of law, prevail over the other." Anderson v. Liberty
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Lobby, Inc., 477 U S. 242, 249 (1986). "A genuine issue is not

made unl ess the evidence . . . would allow a reasonable jury to

return a verdict for [the nonnoving] party.” Radich v. Goode,

886 F.2d 1391, 1395 (3d Cir. 1989) (citing Liberty Lobby, 477

U S at 248-49). 1In deciding the notion for summary judgnent, it
is not the function of the Court to decide disputed questions of
fact, but only to determ ne whether genuine issues of fact exist.
Id. at 248-49.
C. Di scussi on
1. Count 1|1

This Court first determnes that it will grant
defendants' Mtion with regard to Count |1 because the relief
that plaintiff seeks is not recoverable under that claim Count
1, asserted against all defendants and captioned "Fraudul ent
and/ or Negligent Failure to Properly Docunent Plan," alleges a
violation of 29 U S.C. 8§ 1022(a)(1l) and related sections. (First
Am Conpl.  63.) Section 1022(a)(1l) requires that a "summary
pl an description of any enpl oyee benefit plan [] be furnished to
partici pants and beneficiaries.” 29 U S.C. 8§ 1022(a)(1). The
summary nust be "written in a manner cal cul ated to be understood
by the average plan participant,” nust be "sufficiently accurate
and conprehensive to reasonably apprise such participants and
beneficiaries of their rights and obligations under the plan,"

and nmust include, inter alia, "the plan's requirenents respecting

eligibility for participation and benefits[,] a description of

t he provisions providing for nonforfeitable pension benefits[,]
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ci rcunstances which may result in disqualification
ineligibility, or denial or |oss of benefits[, and] the source of
financing of the plan and the identity of any organization

t hr ough whi ch benefits are provided . . ." 29 U S.C 88§
1022(a) (1), (b). Plaintiff alleges that he did not receive the
i nformati on designated under 29 U S.C. § 1022 and that the

i nformati on which he did receive led himto believe that

enpl oyees' years of service wth the MAFI Partnership, in
addition to the MAFI Corporation, would be credited for vesting
pur poses under the Plan. Under this claim plaintiff seeks
paynent of Plan benefits and reformation of the Plan to clarify
that, under the Plan's vesting schedul e, an enpl oyee receives
credit for vesting purposes for his years of service with the
MAFI Par t ner shi p.

The relief that plaintiff seeks, however, is not
recoverabl e under 29 U S.C. 8 1022(a)(1) and rel ated secti ons.
At issue under this claimare "procedural” violations, that is,
violations of ERISA's reporting and discl osure requirenents.

See, Hozier v. Mdwest Fasteners, Inc., 908 F.2d 1155, 1168 (3d

Cr. 1990) (describing reporting and disclosure violations as
"procedural” violations). The Third Grcuit Court of Appeals has
held that ERI SA allows only two causes of action to renedy
procedural violations. [|d. at 1167. The first is found at 29
US C 8§ 1132(a)(4), and the second is found at 29 U S.C. §
1132(a)(1)(A). Relevant to this case is only the latter, 29



U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(A).?* Section 1132(a)(1)(A) provides that an
aggri eved participant or beneficiary may bring a civil action
"for the relief provided for in[29 U S C 8§ 1132(c)]." Section
1132(c), in turn, provides as foll ows:

Any adm ni strator who fails or refuses
to conply with a request for any information
whi ch such adm nistrator is required by this
subchapter to furnish to a participant or
beneficiary (unless such failure or refusal
results fromnmatters reasonably beyond the
control of the admnistrator) by mailing the
mat eri al requested to the | ast known address
of the requesting participant or beneficiary
within 30 days after such request may in the
court's discretion be personally liable to
such participant or beneficiary in the anount
of up to $100 a day fromthe date of such
failure or refusal, and the court may in its
di scretion order such other relief as it
deens proper.

29 U.S.C. § 1132(c).

Despite the fact that the Third G rcuit Court of
Appeal s has held that ERI SA allows only two causes of action to
remedy procedural violations, Hozier, 908 F.2d at 1167, and that
only one of those two causes of action, nanely, a cause of action
under 29 U.S.C. 8§ 1132(a)(1)(A), applies in this case, plaintiff
seeks relief under Count Il pursuant to a wholly i ndependent
ERI SA subsection, nanely, 29 U S. C 8§ 1132(a)(1)(B). Section
1132(a) (1) (B) provides that an aggrieved participant or
beneficiary may bring a civil action "to recover benefits due to

hi munder the ternms of his plan, to enforce his rights under the

’Section 1132(a)(4) relates to the disclosure of certain tax
information, which is not at issue in this case.

v



terns of the plan, or to clarify his rights to future benefits
under the terns of the plan.” 29 U S. C 8§ 1132(a)(1)(B).

The Third Grcuit has held, however, that "[t]he injury
produced by reporting and disclosure violations . . . is .
not renedi abl e under section [1132(a)(1)(B)]. . . . [Instead,] a
partici pant aggrieved by any reporting and disclosure violation
has an avail able, though Iimted, renmedy under section
[1132(a)(1)(A)]." 1d. at 1169. In explanation of its hol ding,
the Third Grcuit has stated as foll ows:

It is well settled that inplied renedies
are di sfavored in the context of statutes
that set out an expressly detail ed renedi al
schene. The presunption that a renmedy was
deliberately omtted froma statute is
strongest when Congress has enacted a
conprehensi ve | egi sl ati ve schene including an
integrated system of procedures for
enforcenent. ERISAis a prlne exanpl e of
just such a statute.

. . It is perhaps arguable that
Congress shoul d have provi ded enpl oyees with
nore generous renedi es under section
[1132(a)(1)(A)] for reporting and discl osure
vi ol ati ons. Through express textual
provi si ons of ERI SA, however, Congress has
provided only limted renedies in this
context. . . . [I]t is not the job of this
court to second-guess Congress's judgnent in
these matters. CQur task is to apply the
text, not to inprove upon it.

ld. at 1169-70. (internal citations and quotations omtted); see

al so, Lewandowski v. Cccidental Chemcal Corp., 986 F.2d 1006,

1009 (6th Cr. 1993) (stating that, after Hozier, "it is clear

that the Third Crcuit does not recogni ze a substantive renedy



for a violation of ERISA's procedures"). ®

I n concl usion, under Hozier, the relief that plaintiff
seeks under Count Il is not recoverable. Accordingly, this Court
wi |l grant defendants' Mdtion for Partial Summary Judgnent on
Count Il and enter judgnment in favor of defendants and agai nst

plaintiff on that claim See, Hozier, 908 F.2d at 1169-70

(affirmng district court's grant of sunmary judgnent because
reporting and di sclosure violations do not entitle plaintiff to

paynent of benefits); Lewandowski, 986 F.2d at 1009 (affirmng

district court's grant of summary judgnent because ERI SA does not
provi de substantive renmedy for procedural violations).

2. Count V

This Court next determnes that it wll grant

def endants' Mtion with regard to Count V because the only
evi dence submtted to the Court regarding that claim which is in
the formof plaintiff's deposition testinony, refutes the
al l egations stated therein. Count V, asserted agai nst defendant

Garcia, alleges that "Garcia specifically represented to Kirsch,

*This Court notes, as did the Third Grcuit in Hozier, that
section 1132(c) states that "the court may in its discretion

order such other relief as it deens proper." 29 U S.C 8§
1132(c). This Court need not determ ne whether the relief that
plaintiff seeks under Count Il falls within that clause, however,

because plaintiff has not advanced a claimunder 29 U S.C. 8§
1132(a) (1) (A), which incorporates 29 U S. C 8§ 1132(c), at all.
See, Hozier, 908 F.2d at 1179 n. 16 (stating that it "need not
determ ne the exact range of perm ssible renedi es under 8§
[1132(a) (1) (A)]" because plaintiffs, "who advance[d] no claim
under 8 [1132(a)(1)(A)], d[id] not contend that their action to
recover benefits c[ould] be sustained under the 'such other
relief' clause in section [1132(c)]").
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and Kirsch understood, that all service with the 'conpany,' both
when it was a partnership and after its incorporation, would be
credited toward vesting in the Plan.”™ (First Am Conpl. § 80.)
Plaintiff admtted during his deposition, however, that M.
Garcia made no such representation. |In response to the question
whet her plaintiff "[was] ever told that service during the tine
of the MUMPSAudi oFax partnership would count towards vesting in
the profit sharing plan,” plaintiff answered, "no." (Dep. of
Robert A. Kirsch at 368, attached as Ex. Ato Defs.' Mt. for
Partial Summ J. ("Kirsch Dep.").)

As the aforenentioned statenent is the only piece of
evi dence submtted to the Court that is relevant to plaintiff's
fraud claim there is no genuine issue as to any material fact
regarding that claim and defendants are entitled to judgnent as

a matter of law. See, White, 862 F.2d at 59 (describing the

ci rcunst ances under which the entry of summary judgnent is
appropriate). Accordingly, this Court wll grant defendants'
Motion for Partial Summary Judgnent on Count V and enter judgnent
in favor of defendants and against plaintiff on that claim
3. Count VI

This Court finally will deny defendants' Mbtion
with regard to Count VI because genui ne issues of material fact
exist wwth regard to that claim Count VI, asserted agai nst
def endants Garcia and MAFI Corporation, alleges a violation of 29
US C 8§ 1140. Section 1140 provides, in relevant part, as

foll ows:
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It shall be unlawful for any person to

di scharge, fine, suspend, expel, discipline,

or discrimnate agai nst a participant or

beneficiary for exercising any right to which

he is entitled under the provisions of an

enpl oyee benefit plan, . . . or for the

purpose of interfering with the attainnment of

any right to which such participant may

becone entitled under the plan .
29 U.S.C. 8§ 1140. Viewing the evidence submtted to the Court in
the |ight nost favorable to plaintiff, as the Court nust do in
ruling on defendants' Mdtion, Wite, 862 F.2d at 59, this Court
determ nes that a factfinder could conclude that defendants took
certain actions, such as locking plaintiff out of the NAFI
Corporation's offices, to induce plaintiff to | eave the enpl oy of
t he MAFI Corporation and, in so doing, that defendants
"expel[ed]," "discipline[d]," or "discrimnate[d] against"
plaintiff "for the purpose of interfering with the attainnent of
any right to which [plaintiff] may [have] becone entitled under

the [Plan].” 29 U S.C. 8 1140; see, Haberern v. Kaupp Vascul ar

Surgeons Ltd. Defined Benefit Pension Plan, 24 F.3d 1491, 1502-03

(3d Cr. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U S 1149 (1995) (stating that

Congress enacted 29 U S.C. § 1140 "primarily to prevent
‘unscrupul ous enpl oyers from di scharging or harassing their
enpl oyees in order to keep them from obtai ning vested pension

benefits (quoting West v. Butler, 621 F.2d 240, 245 (6th Cr.

1980)). Accordingly, this Court wll deny defendants' Motion for

Partial Sunmmary Judgnment on Count VI.
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D. Concl usi on

In summary, this Court will grant defendants' Motion
for Partial Sunmary Judgnent with respect to Counts Il and V and
deny defendants' Mtion for Partial Summary Judgnent with respect
to Count VI.

An appropriate O der foll ows.

Cl arence C. Newconer, J.
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IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

ROBERT KI RSCH, : ClVIL ACTI ON
Plaintiff, :

V.

ALFREDO GARCI A,
MUVPSAUDI OFAX, | NC.,
and MJUVMPSAUDI OFAX, | NC.
PROFI T SHARI NG PLAN, :
Def endant s. : NO. 96-8230

ORDER
AND NOW this day of August, 1997, upon

consi deration of Defendants' Mtion for Partial Sunmary Judgnent,
plaintiff's response thereto, and defendants' reply thereto, and
in accordance with the foregoing Menorandum it is hereby ORDERED
that said Mdtion is GRANTED in part and DENIED in part. It is
further ORDERED that JUDGVENT | S ENTERED in favor of defendants
and against plaintiff on Counts Il and V of plaintiff's First
Amended Conpl ai nt .

AND I T I'S SO ORDERED.

Cl arence C. Newconer, J.



